
CITY COUNCIL
Regular Meeting – Agenda 

June 5, 2023 at 4:00 PM

Pooler City Hall 
100 US Hwy 80 SW, 

Pooler, GA 31322 
www.pooler-ga.gov 

1 of 2 

I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM

II. CALL TO ORDER

III. INVOCATION

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS

VI. CONSENT AGENDA
A. City Council Meeting Minutes of May 15, 2023

B. Special Event Permit Application for Trisha Cook & Kelly Senn for July 30,
2023

VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
A. Ordinance O2023-05.A - To Amend Appendix A - Zoning, Article IV -

Zoning Districts, Section 18 - C-1, Light Commercial District to Clarify
Language Related to Allowable Acreage, and Article III - General
Provisions, Section 2, Access to Public Street Required to Clarify
Requirements Related to Access and Chapter 74 - Streets, Sidewalks, and
Other Public Places, Art. V - Engineering Policy to Provide Provisions for
Perpetual Maintenance of Developed Sites (Second Reading; Action)

B. Ordinance O2023-05.B - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article III - General Provisions, to
Clarify Language Related to the Display of Goods in Parking or Loading
Areas and Provide for Provisions Related to Outdoor Storage and Display
and Sale of Merchandise; To Address Non-Conformities and Need for
Compliance (First Reading; Public Hearing, Action)

C. Ordinance O2023-05.C - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article II - Definitions and Article III -
General Provisions by Adding Section 32 - Horizontal Mixed-Use
Development and Amending Table 4.1 - Allowed Uses by Zoning District
(First Reading; Public Hearing, Action)

Page 1 of 122



2 of 2 

D. Ordinance O2023-05.D - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of
Ordinances Chapter 82- Traffic and Vehicles, Article II - Stopping,
Standing and Parking to Add Language Related to Parking of Commercial
Vehicles (First Reading; Public Hearing, Action)

E. Ordinance O2023-05.E - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article V- Procedures for Administration
and Enforcement, Section 5 Public Notice and Chapter 62 - Planning,
Article II - Planning and Zoning Commission - Section 62-34; To Amend
Language Related to Public Notice Requirements and Public Hearing
Procedures (First Reading; Public Hearing, Action)

F. Proclamation for Juneteenth 2023

G. Resolution 2023-06.A - Budget Amendment 2023-01

VIII. OLD BUSINESS
A. Zoning Map Amendment for 1703 Old Dean Forest Road from MH-3 to I-1

(PIN 5-0988-04-006)

IX. NEW BUSINESS
A. Building Height Variance for Stonecutter Pooler Multifamily Owner, LLC

(Public Hearing, Action)
B. Release of Performance Bond/Acceptance of Maintenance Bond for

Harmony Townhomes
C. Acceptance of Subdivision Performance Bond/Final Plat for Harmony,

Phase 7
D. Acceptance of Subdivision Performance Bond/Final Plat for Forest Lakes,

Phase 10
E. Renewal of Annual Contract for Debris Monitoring Services and Consumer

Price Index Escalation

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION

XI. ADJOURNMENT

Page 2 of 122



CITY COUNCIL

Regular Meeting – Minutes 

May 15, 2023 at 4:00 PM

 Pooler City Hall 
100 US Hwy 80 SW, Pooler, 

GA 31322 
www.pooler-ga.gov 

1 of 4 

I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
Present: Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Tom Hutcherson, Mayor Pro Tem 
Shannon Black, Councilmember 
Aaron Higgins, Councilmember 
Stevie Wall, Councilmember 
John Wilcher, Councilmember 
Karen Williams, Councilmember  
Robert Byrd, City Manager   
Craig Call, City Attorney    
Chris Lightle, Finance Officer   
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council    

Absent: 

II. CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Rebecca Benton called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.

III. INVOCATION
Dr. Shirlinia Daniel gave the invocation.

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Dr. Shirlinia Daniel led the pledge.

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
Mayor Rebecca Benton presented Susan Edwards, Senior Center Director, with a
certificate commemorating her 25-year anniversary with the City. Mayor
Rebecca Benton then reminded those present of the upcoming Hurricane
Preparedness Workshop to be held at Pooler City Hall on Thursday, May 25 at
3:00 p.m. presented by Chatham Emergency Management Agency.

Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to amend the agenda to reconsider New
Business, Item A. Zoning Map Amendment for 1703 Old Dean Forest Road from
the May 1, 2023 Council Meeting.

Motion to Amend; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Higgins
SECONDER: Hutcherson
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams

Page 3 of 122



2 of 4 

NAYS:  

Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to postpone action on New Business, Item 
A. Zoning Map Amendment for 1703 Old Dean Forest Road from the May 1,
2023 Council Meeting until such time that it has been advertised properly.

Motion to Postpone; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

VI. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. City Council Meeting Minutes of May 1, 2023

B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of April 17, 2023

C. Department Reports

1. Public Works

2. Finance

3. Fire Department

4. Police Department

5. Recreation

6. Planning & Zoning

Mayor Pro Tem Tom Hutcherson moved to approve the Consent Agenda
subject to consideration of the amended agenda.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Hutcherson
SECONDER: Wilcher
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS

Page 4 of 122



3 of 4 

A. Ordinance O2023-05.A - To Amend Appendix A, Zoning, Article IV 
-Zoning Districts, Section 18 - C-1, Light Commercial District, and 
Article III - General Provisions, Section 2, Access to Public 
Streets, Chapter 74 -Streets, Sidewalks, and Other Public Places, 
Art. V - Engineering Policy to Provide Provisions for Perpetual 
Maintenance of Developed Sites (First Reading)
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the ordinance for consideration. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance O2023-05.A - To Amend Appendix A, Zoning, Article IV -
Zoning Districts, Section 18 - C-1, Light Commercial District, and Article 
III - General Provisions, Section 2, Access to Public Streets, Chapter 74 -
Streets, Sidewalks, and Other Public Places, Art. V - Engineering Policy to 
Provide Provisions for Perpetual Maintenance of Developed Sites. Motion 
to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Higgins
SECONDER: Williams
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

B. Resolution R2023-05.A - Appointment of Directors to the City of 
Pooler Development Authority
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve Resolution R2023-05.A -
Appointment of Directors to the City of Pooler Development Authority. 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wall
SECONDER: Wilcher
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

C. Resolution R2023-05.B - Budget Amendment 2022-02 Year-End
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. 
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve Resolution R2023-05.B -
Budget Amendment 2022-02 Year-End.
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wilcher
SECONDER: Wall
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

VIII.  NEW BUSINESS

A. Conditional Use Request for 134 Raymond Road (Public 
Hearing)

Page 5 of 122



4 of 4 

City Manager Robert Byrd reported that the item had been withdrawn. 
Mayor Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without 
comment. No action was taken. 

IX. ADJOURNMENT

Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to adjourn.

Motion to Adjourn; PASSED (4-2)
MOVER: Wall
SECONDER: Wilcher
AYES: Black, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher
NAYS: Higgins, Williams

The meeting adjourned at 4:16 p.m.

The foregoing minutes are true and correct and approved by me on this _____
day of ______________, 2023.

_______________________________ 
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Attest: 

__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council 

Page 6 of 122



Page 7 of 122



Page 8 of 122



Page 9 of 122



Page 10 of 122



Page 11 of 122



Page 12 of 122



Page 13 of 122



Page 14 of 122



Page 15 of 122



City of Pooler that the Catie of 

ORDINANCE  O2023-5.A 

AN CBDINAN·CI: i'O AMEND l'HE CITY 0-F POOL£ij CODE ®F 0ROtNANCES APPENE>tx �•-,. Z€>NING, 

ARTICLE tv � lONlNG DfS1"RICn, SECTION 18 - ,C-1, LIGHT COMMER-CIA� DfSTRICT TO (:l.,ARIP:Y 

1.,ANGUAGE RELATED TO ALLOWABLE ACREAGE AND ARTICLfi Ill - GENERAL P'ROVISIONS, SECTION 2 - 
ACCESS TO PUBLIC STREET REQUIRED TO CLARIFY REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO ACCIESS ANO CNAP.TER 

74 - STREETS, SIDEWAU<S AND OTWfR l?lJBLIG: PlACES, ARTICL6 V - ENGINEERING POLICY TO PROVIDE 

PROVISIONS FOR PERPETUAL MAINl'ENA,NCE OF DEVELOPED SITES; TQ REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; TO PROVIDE FOR AN ei;fECTIVE DATE, AND fOR 01THER PURPOSES 

NOW THEREfORE, �f IT ORDAIN D by rhe '. Mayor·and C-0,uncll of 

Qrclinance� -w the ot¥ of Pooler. . GeergJa arre hereby amended foJJows:

Th'at APPl:NDIX�•.::...zejNIN6, ARTICLE�·'#. lONlr-JG 01 

amended �¥ d'f:1leting the strikethr0\JgA lang<Ui:!ge 

Seetiel'l 1.8·. -C-1, light eommer�ial distriet. 

(A) Purp(f)S_e tf diS.t.rict. · - · · · · 

, -Sectiori 1- . e light cermmercial district, be 

eommerci.aJ pr0Qet1ies-¥w-l'fHiilflEl�set"tllll�ERa�&MHtl!lil 

ilJ:)flilent of l!i:tiht 
1'hls· d�rict is c01tl'pos.ed af lands and 

structures used prir:nari'ly for t-ne l"�talrn 
district ar-e rntel)ded to permit and ehceu 

, og of se.rviees. Regutati<!ms within this

ess9ry uses while at the s1tmf 
cts of he c0mmer:cial 2Hrtiv.ity. 
eufldlng offidal for review by 

ttme groteGting nearb 
AU Site p}tans for Q.eve 
the pJ-anntng c0mmi.ss1 V efthis or.:dinanee for the site l!)'la,n 

J.. li?�OV-1SJONS � Sectiofl 2. A'Ccess to fi)Ublic s:tre@J: 
ing the -(1iJ�.ethrou.gJi language and add the underlih,e-d text�� foli0ws: 

ruct . -ecte� Ul:)on JI !tt, w parcel of land, which doe.s 1110t abut upon� 

direet vebicwJar a a p ,1;i,11�teJ c;iwne-d �reet, publicly approtJea s�reet, .or �permar:ient 

a�ess .ea serpent of ,a,ceest :tp a , • !Jt or o·riyatrely pwned street. Ar.i� stre.e-t olf' e _as.em�nt that pto;1.ii_de-s ' .. - � ('. 

dkect access to a new deva:klp ent shall m,eet the street stancla.rCils provicled in the City of Pool�r's 

Standard -5pe-Cifications and Details. � feasement§ provi0ing access to .ii public or privately 0wned 

street for resitdential development shall serve no more than two lots and ffM:fSt-shall have ca mmimum width 

Of 15 ieet unless stl ,easement ,4>f less�,r width: was m fl<1COir'tHprior to the -adbpti"o,n oJ this ©rdiM�te; 

easements providing access t-0 a puelic or priv·ate'ly owned street for non-residential development may 

serve two or mere lots, as long.as it meets the minimum standards for a marg;jnal a£cess or minor street. 

The City may regwire any existing access easement or street to be brought up to City standards. in whoJe 

or in part, as part of a development ao@r.oval. 

Page 16 of 122



Page 17 of 122



Page 18 of 122



Page 19 of 122



ORDINANCE O2023-05.B 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF POOLER CODE OF ORDINANCES APPENDIX A - ZONING, 

ARTICLE Ill - GENERAL PROVISIONS, TO CLARIFY LANGUAGE RELATED TO THE DISPLAY OF GOODS IN 

PARKING OR LOADING AREAS AND PROVIDE FOR PROVISIONS RELATED TO OUTDOOR STORAGE AND 

DISPLAY AND SALE OF MERCHANDISE; TO ADDRESS NON-CONFORMITIES AND NEED FOR 

COMPLIANCE; TO REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pooler that the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Pooler, Georgia are hereby amended as follows: 

That APPENDIX A - ZONING, ARTICLE Ill. GENERAL PROVISIONS - Section 5. Off-street parking and 

unloading be amended by deleting the strikethrough language and add the underlined text as follows: 

(D) Commercial districts. Off-street parking spaces shall be provided on every lot on which any of the

following uses are hereby established. Such spaces shall include adequate maneuvering areas and

shall be provided with vehicular access to a street or lane. All parking facilities shall have a base

of either concrete or asphalt; pervious concrete, porous asphalt, and permeable pavers (with or

without an underdrain) shall be used to the greatest extent possible. Parking lot bioswales,

bioretention, and other low impact development (LID) practices shall be integrated into the

parking lot design to the greatest extent possible. Parking shall be no closer than ten feet to the

street, road, or rights-of-way. Parking spaces, as required as part of this section, shall not be used

for the display. sale, lease, st0rage, dismantling. or service of any vehicles, goods, equipment, or

any other supplies. unless otherwise permitted elsewhere in City code. The parking planL 
including

the design detail for LID practices, shall be submitted and approved by the €�ity planner and city

engineer prior to the issuance of a permit.

II 

That APPENDIX A - ZONING, ARTICLE Ill. GENERAL PROVISIONS be amended by adding the following 

language: 

Section 33. - Outdoor display, sale, and storage of goods. 

(A} Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide standards for the outdoor display, sale, and 

storage of goods related to retail uses in order to promote the health, safety, and welfare of the 

City so as to ensure that such display, sale, or storage does not create an unsafe condition, impede 

pedestrian or vehicular movement or safety, or otherwise create a nuisance. 

(B} Applicability. The provisions of this section shall apply as an allowed accessory use to any use 

within the Retail Trade category when permitted to allow for the outdoor display and storage of 

goods and materials for sale on site. A site plan depicting the location and extent of any proposed 

display or storage area for any outdoor display or storage area is required. 

(C) Definitions.

(1} Display area. Any portion of a retail trade establishment site utilized for outdoor display.

Page 20 of 122



Page 21 of 122



Page 22 of 122



Page 23 of 122



I , 

ORDINANCE O2023-5.C 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF POOLER CODE OF ORDINANCES APPENDIX A - ZONING, 

ARTICLE II - DEFINITIONS AND ARTICLE Ill - GENERAL PROVISIONS BY ADDING SECTION 32 - 

HORIZONTAL MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT AND TABLE 4.1- ALLOWED USES BY ZONING DISTRICT; TO 

REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pooler that the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Pooler, Georgia are hereby amended as follows: 

That APPENDIX A- ZONING, Article II. DEFINITIONS be amended by adding the following language: 

Horizontal mixed-use development. A development site developed as a single, contiguous site 

consisting of multiple detached buildings with differing land uses including both residential and non

residential components. 

Mixed-use. Any development or building that includes residential and non-residential principal 
uses. 

Mixed-use development. A site developed for mixed-use. Mixed-use development is typically 

vertically integrated within a multi-story building but may also be horizontally integrated within a single 
building or on a lot or development. 

II 

That APPENDIX A- ZONING, Article Ill. GENERAL PROVISIONS be amended by adding the following: 

Section 32. -Horizontal mixed-use development. 

(A) Applicability.

(1) The provisions of this section shall apply to any new horizontal mixed-use development

as defined in this ordinance.

(2) Any new horizontal mixed-use development shall only be allowed as part of an approved

site plan.

(3) Any horizontal mixed-use development existing prior to May 1, 2023, shall be allowed to

continue to exist without express compliance with these requirements. Any

redevelopment, alteration, expansion, or extension of at least 35 percent of an existing

horizontal mixed-use development shall be required to comply with these requirements.

(B) Definitions.

(1) Non-residential component. The minimum required non-residential use portion related

to a horizontal mixed-use development.

(2) Open space set-aside. Portion of the site that is not occupied by buildings, structures,

impermeable areas, or driveways, which are intended for the use and enjoyment of the

Page 24 of 122



Page 25 of 122



Page 26 of 122



Page 27 of 122



Date: 

Subject: 

AGENDA ITEM 

June 5, 2023 

Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of Ordinances Chapter 82-
Traffic and Vehicles, Article II - Stopping, Standing and Parking 

to add language related to parking of commercial vehicles 
(First Reading) 

Background & Discussion 

Chapter 82 - Traffic and Vehicles, Article II. Stopping, Standing and Parking 

be amended by adding the text as follows: 

Section 82-45. Parking of Commercial Vehicles. 

a. It shall be unlawful to park a commercial vehicle, including but not 

limited to any bimodal semitrailer, semitrailer, trailer, truck tractor, or 

combination of such vehicles, in or upon parcels of land designated as a 

commercial use for a period in excess of two hours, unless such 

commercial vehicle is directly associated with the operation or 

management of the property. 

b. Any person who parks, places, or permits a commercial vehicle to be 

parked for a period in excess of two hours in violation of subsection (a), 

shall, upon conviction, be punished as provided in section 1-12. 

Planning and Zoning Recommendation: 

NIA 

Staff Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval on first reading. 

Page 28 of 122



ORDINANCE O2023-05.D 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF POOLER CODE OF ORDINANCES CHAPTER 82 - TRAFFIC AND 

VEHICLES, ARTICLE II - STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING TO ADD LANGUAGE RELATED TO PARKING 

OF COMMERCIAL VEHICLES; TO REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; TO PROVIDE FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pooler that the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Pooler, Georgia are hereby amended as follows: 

That CHAPTER 82 - TRAFFIC AND VEHICLES, ARTICLE II. STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING be amended 

by adding the text as follows: 

Section 82-45. Parking of Commercial Vehicles. 

(a) It shall be unlawful to park a commercial vehicle, including but not limited to, any bimodal

semitrailer, semitrailer, trailer, truck tractor, or combination of such vehicles, in comFRercial
parking lotsor upon parcels of land designated as a commerclal use, for a period in excess of two

hours, eHcept tt:lose Yef:licles unless such commercial vehicle is directly associated with the
operation or management of the property.

(b) Any person who parks, places, or permits a commercial vehicle to be parked for a period in excess

of two hours in violation of subsec.:tion (al, shall, upon conviction, be punishaeleed �as
provided in section 1-12.

II 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Ill 

If any section, clause, or phrase of'thjs ordinance is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, the said holding shall in na way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this 

ordinance. 

IV 

This ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoption by the Mayer and City Council of Pooler, 

Georgia. 

1st Reading: 

2nd Reading: 

This __ day of ______ _, 2023. 

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Page 29 of 122



• 

Attest: 

Kiley Fusco, City Clerk 

Date: 

Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Page 30 of 122



AGENDA ITEM 

Date: June 5, 2023 

Subject: Amend the City of Pooler Code of Ordinances, Appendix A -
Zoning, Article V - Procedures for Administration and 
Enforcement, Section 5, Public Notice and Chapter 62 -
Planning, Article II - Planning and Zoning Commission
Section 62-34 to Amend Language Related to Public Notice 
Requirements and Public Hearing Procedures (First Reading) 

Background & Discussion 

The provisions will amend language related to public notice 
requirements and public hearing procedures. 

Planning and Zoning Recommendation: 

After reviewing the criteria, P &Z recommended approval of the text 
amendment. 

Staff Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval on first reading. 

Page 31 of 122



ORDINANCE O2023-5.E 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF POOLER CODE OF ORDINANCES APPENDIX A- ZONING, 

ARTICLE V - PROCEDURES FOR ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT, SECTION 5, PUBLIC NOTICE 

AND CHAPTER 62 - PLANNING, ARTICLE II -PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION -SECTION 62-34 TO 

AMEND LANGUAGE RELATED TO PUBLIC NOTICE REQUIREMENTS AND PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURES; 

TO REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pooler that the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Pooler, Georgia are hereby amended as follows: 

That Appendix A - ZONING, Article V. PROCEDURES FOR ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT, 

Section 5 - Public Notice, be amended by deleting the strikethrough text and adding the underlined 

text as follows: 

Section 5. Public notice. 

(C) S1:1pp,1emeRtal R-f::1.otification to adjacent property owners. At least seven days prior, but not more

than 45 days before, the date of the public hearing, a notice setting forth the date, time, and place

for such public hearing shall be sent by mail by the applicant to the property owner (if not the

applicantl and all owners of property located adjacent to or across a public right-of-way from the

property being proposed for a zoning action. The applicant shall make all reasonable efforts to

notify any resident(s) of the property of such proposed zoning action when the owner does not

reside on the property. The notice will be provided to the applicant by the zoning administrator

and shall a4-se include the location of the property, its present zoning classification, and the

proposed zoning action. The names and addresses of owners of such properties to be notified

shall be provided by the applicant as set forth herein; provided, however, where a zoning action

is initiated by the city, such names and addresses of owners of property located adjacent to or

across a public right-of-way from property being proposed for rezoning shall be provided by the

zoning administrator. Failure to send notices or failure of the property owner to receive mailed

notification shall not affect the validity of any zoning action. This procedure exists as a supplement

to the legally required notification procedures.

II 

That CHAPTER 62 - PLANNING, Article II. PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION, Section 62-34 -

Organization; purpose; rules; staff; finances, be amended by deleting the strikethrough text and adding 

the underlined text as follows: 

Sec. 62-34. Organization; purpose; rules; staff; finances. 

(a) Organization. The chairperson of the planning and zoning commission is the city planner Director

of Planning and Development. The chairperson may appoint a secretary, who may be an officer

or employee of the city. Should the chairperson be unable to attend a meeting, or the position of

Page 32 of 122



city planner Director of Planning and Development is not filled, the €_Qty Planner WA-i-Ag 

administrator may serve as chairperson pro tern. 

Ill 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the ordinance are hereby repealed. 

IV 

If any section, clause, or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of 

competent jurisdiction, the said holding shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this 

ordinance. 

V 

This ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoptlon by itie Mayer and City Council of Pooler, 

Georgia. 

1st Reading: 

2nd Read ing: 

'· This __ day of _ ___ _ _ 2023. 

Attest: 

Kiley Fusco, City Clerk 

Date: 

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Page 33 of 122



Page 34 of 122



H:\Budget\2023 Budget Files\Budget Amendments\2023 Budget amendment files\2023.05.18 Resolution ‐ Budget Amendment 2023‐01.docx 

RESOLUTION 
Budget Amendment 2023-01 

WHEREAS the 2023 annual budget for the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, Capital Projects Funds, 
and the Water/Sewer Fund of the City of Pooler was adopted on December 19, 2022, and 

WHEREAS it is necessary to amend said Budget, now 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Pooler City Council, that the following amendments to the 
annual budget be made: 

Increase (decrease) general fund revenue and appropriations as follows: 

Source: Amount Explanation

Property tax 400,000$   Growth in tax digest more than estimated
Local option sales tax 811,535     LOST revenue trending higher than estimated
Alcoholic beverage excise tax 23,255       Revenue trending higher than estimated
Insurance premium tax 100,000     Increase in original estimate
State grants - capital (250,000)   LMIG proceeds moved to fund 350
Interest revenue 40,000       Revenue trending higher than estimated

Use:

Roads and streets 811,535     Increase in roadside mowing contract
Roads and streets (83,000)     Current year required LMIG match
Parks 314,225     Amendment #1 to roadside mowing contract
Transfer to fund 350 82,030       Transfer current year required LMIG match to fund 350
Transfer to fund 350 794,655     Net increase in interfund transfer to fund 350

Fund balance (794,655)$ Use of fund balance

The above additional general fund appropriations are funded by unanticipated revenues and fund balance. 

Increase (decrease) local resources fund revenue and appropriations as follows: 

Source: Amount Explanation

State grants - capital 273,435$   LMIG proceeds moved from fund 100
Damaged property recovery 44,315       Police cruiser totaled in November 2022
Transfer from fund 100 876,685     Required LMIG match/net increase in interfund transfer
Sale of surplus property 31,825       Auction proceeds

Use:

City manager 4,805         Vehicle price increase over original estimate
Police 47,145       Replacement vehicle for above cruiser
Roads and streets 1,144,235  2023 paving project
Canal maintenance 30,075       2012 Freightliner Cascadia truck

Fund balance -$              No use of fund balance

R2023-06.A

Page 35 of 122



Budget Amendment 2023-01 
Page 2 

H:\Budget\2023 Budget Files\Budget Amendments\2023 Budget amendment files\2023.05.18 Resolution ‐ Budget Amendment 2023‐01.docx 

The above additional local resources fund appropriations are funded by unanticipated revenues and an 
increase in interfund transfers from the general fund.  

Approved by the Mayor and Council of Pooler on the 5th day of June 2023. 

_______________________________________ 
Rebecca Benton, Mayor 

Attested by: 

Kiley Fusco, City Clerk 

Page 36 of 122



Page 37 of 122



Page 38 of 122



Page 39 of 122



Page 40 of 122



Page 41 of 122



Page 42 of 122



Page 43 of 122



Page 44 of 122



Page 45 of 122



Page 46 of 122



Page 47 of 122



Page 48 of 122



Page 49 of 122



Page 50 of 122



Page 51 of 122



Page 52 of 122



Page 53 of 122



0'-0"
FINSHED FLOOR

22'-10 1/2"
THIRD FLOOR

33'-6 3/4"
FOURTH FLOOR

46'-8 1/4"
TYPICAL TRUSS BEARING

12'-2 1/4"
SECOND FLOOR

47'-8 1/4"
AT PORCH TOWERS

4
12

4
12

54'-0 3/4"
TYP RIDGE HEIGHT ABOVE GRADE

58'-8"
TOP OF TOWER ABOVE GRADE

-0'-8"
GRADE

50'-0" VISIBLE ROOF AREA ABOVE 50' = 973 SF (40.5%)
ABOVE GRAGE TOTAL VISBLE ROOF AREA = 2402 SF

55'-0"
ABOVE GRADE

VISIBLE ROOF AREA ABOVE 55' = 40 SF (1.7%)

LO
G

A
N

 D
EV

EL
O

PE
RS

 IN
C

.
Po

ol
er

, G
A

BL
A

KE
LY

 C
O

M
M

O
N

S
SC

HE
M

A
TIC

 D
ES

IG
N

A R C H I T E C T U R E

00
52

22
PR

O
G

RE
SS

 R
EV

IE
W

 4
/2

6/
20

23

BUILDING TYPE 1
 ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'

FINISH FLOOR
ELEVATION: 19.00

POOLER PARKWAY
ELEVATION: 25.20

Page 54 of 122



0'-0"
FINSHED FLOOR

21'-4 1/2"
THIRD FLOOR

32'-0 3/4"
FOURTH FLOOR

41'-2 1/4"
TRUSS BEARING

10'-8 1/4"
SECOND FLOOR

42'-2 1/4"
AT PORCH TOWERS

52'-6 3/4"
TYP RIDGE HEIGHT ABOVE GRADE

-0'-8"
GRADE

4
12

50'-0" VISIBLE ROOF AREA ABOVE 50' = 279 SF (16.0%)
ABOVE GRAGE TOTAL VISBLE ROOF AREA = 1735 SF

LO
G

A
N

 D
EV

EL
O

PE
RS

 IN
C

.
Po

ol
er

, G
A

BL
A

KE
LY

 C
O

M
M

O
N

S
SC

HE
M

A
TIC

 D
ES

IG
N

A R C H I T E C T U R E

00
52

22
PR

O
G

RE
SS

 R
EV

IE
W

 4
/2

6/
20

23

BUILDING TYPE 2
 ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'

FINISH FLOOR
ELEVATION: 19.00

POOLER PARKWAY
ELEVATION: 25.20

Page 55 of 122



0'-0"
FINSHED FLOOR

21'-4 1/2"
THIRD FLOOR

32'-0 3/4"
FOURTH FLOOR

41'-2 1/4"
TRUSS BEARING

10'-8 1/4"
SECOND FLOOR

4
12

42'-2 1/4"
AT PORCH TOWERS

52'-6 3/4"
TYP RIDGE HEIGHT ABOVE GRADE

-0'-8"
GRADE

50'-0" VISIBLE ROOF AREA ABOVE 50' = 346 SF (16.6%)
ABOVE GRAGE TOTAL VISBLE ROOF AREA = 2088 SF

LO
G

A
N

 D
EV

EL
O

PE
RS

 IN
C

.
Po

ol
er

, G
A

BL
A

KE
LY

 C
O

M
M

O
N

S
SC

HE
M

A
TIC

 D
ES

IG
N

A R C H I T E C T U R E

00
52

22
PR

O
G

RE
SS

 R
EV

IE
W

 4
/2

6/
20

23

BUILDING TYPE 3
 ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'

FINISH FLOOR
ELEVATION: 19.00

POOLER PARKWAY
ELEVATION: 25.20

Page 56 of 122



0'-0"
FINSHED FLOOR

21'-4 1/2"
THIRD FLOOR

32'-0 3/4"
FOURTH FLOOR

41'-2 1/4"
TRUSS BEARING

10'-8 1/4"
SECOND FLOOR

4
12

52'-6 3/4"
TYP RIDGE HEIGHT ABOVE GRADE

-0'-8"
GRADE

42'-2 1/4"
AT PORCH TOWERS

52'-6 3/4"
TYP RIDGE HEIGHT ABOVE GRADE

50'-0" VISIBLE ROOF AREA ABOVE 50' = 213 SF (15.4%)
ABOVE GRAGE TOTAL VISBLE ROOF AREA = 1381 SF

LO
G

A
N

 D
EV

EL
O

PE
RS

 IN
C

.
Po

ol
er

, G
A

BL
A

KE
LY

 C
O

M
M

O
N

S
SC

HE
M

A
TIC

 D
ES

IG
N

A R C H I T E C T U R E

00
52

22
PR

O
G

RE
SS

 R
EV

IE
W

 4
/2

6/
20

23

BUILDING TYPE 4
 ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'

FINISH FLOOR
ELEVATION: 19.00

POOLER PARKWAY
ELEVATION: 25.20

Page 57 of 122



Page 58 of 122



(7) GARAGES

(7
) G

AR
AG

ES

(7) GARAGES

POND

POND

AMENITY
AREA

NOW OR FORMERLY
TRACT 5

THE SOUTHWEST QUADRANT
OF SAVANNAH QUARTERS

PRB 20P, PG 41-G
N/F WESTBROOK AT SAVANNAH

 QUARTERS COMMUNITY
PIN: 51009 01071

35' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

35' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

N 02° 31' 35" W
1028.12'

C1

W
ES

TB
R

O
O

K 
LA

N
E 

(1
20

' R
/W

)
N 

75
° 0

5'
 2

0"
 E

29
5.

94
'

9.
00

'

26
.0

0'

9.00'

18
.0

0'

26.00'

86.67'

86.67'

22
.0

0'

63.00'

86
.6

7'

22.00'

18
.0

0'

90
.0

0'

20
3.

88
'

81.17'

81
.1

7'

229.37'

164.50'

18
.0

0' 9.00'

90
.0

0'

26
.0

0'

26
.0

0'

7

8

10

6

7

6
6

11
12

10

10
10

10
6

11

9

3

12

10

4

5.
0'

5.
0'

5.0'

5.00'

2
4-STORY
(48) UNITS3

4-STORY(56) UNITS

8

10

 D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 K
:\S

AV
_C

iv
il\

01
49

77
00

0_
Bl

ak
el

y_
C

om
m

on
s_

Lo
ga

n_
H

om
es

\C
AD

\P
la

ns
he

et
s\

C
2-

00
 - 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g 

  C
2-

00
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

   
Ap

r 2
4,

 2
02

3 
 8

:5
7a

m
   

by
: d

aw
so

n.
va

ug
hn

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R
PR

O
JE

C
T

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

014977000

N
o.

IS
SU

AN
C

E 
AN

D
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

S
D

AT
E

BY

REVIEWED BY JW

DESIGNED BY DV

DRAWN BY CJ

GSWCC NO.
(LEVEL II) 0000073900

TITLE

BL
AK

EL
EY

 C
O

M
M

O
N

S
PO

O
LE

R
 P

KW
Y,

 P
O

O
LE

R
, G

A 
31

32
2

PA
R

C
EL

 ID
: 5

10
09

 0
10

41

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y

04/24/2023

LO
G

AN
 H

O
M

ES
 S

C
59

1 
BR

O
W

N
S 

C
O

VE
 R

D
.

R
ID

G
EL

AN
D

, S
C

 2
99

36
PH

O
N

E:
 (9

10
) 7

42
-6

47
2

©
 2

02
2 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.
55

4 
E 

G
O

R
D

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

SA
VA

N
N

AH
, G

EO
R

G
IA

 3
14

01
PH

O
N

E 
(9

12
) 2

31
-4

38
4

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C2-00

SITE PLAN

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

15 30 60

NORTH

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-00

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-01

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-00

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-01

SITE NOTES:
1. THE PROPOSED BUILDING INFORMATION SHOWN HEREON IS

FROM AN ELECTRONIC FILE PROVIDED BY PLANWORX
ARCHITECTURE, DATED 02/03/2023 AND IS FOR ILLUSTRATIVE
PURPOSES ONLY. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFERENCE
ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR EXACT BUILDING INFORMATION.

2. EXISTING CONDITIONS SHOWN HEREON ARE FROM A SURVEY
FILE PROVIDED BY SHUPE SURVEYING COMPANY, P.C., DATED
09/28/2022.

3. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM EDGE OF PAVEMENT TO EDGE OF
PAVEMENT UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. SIDEWALK INSTALLED AGAINST BACK OF CURB SHALL BE
INSTALLED PER THE PLAN AS MEASURED FROM THE BACK OF
CURB.

5. ALL SIGNAGE AND STRIPING MUST MEET THE LATEST
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH BY MUTCD, GDOT, AND GEORGIA
STATE CODE.

6. REFERENCE LANDSCAPE PLANS FOR ALL HARDSCAPE AND
LANDSCAPE DETAILS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY:
SITE SUMMARY:

CURRENT ZONING: PUD (SAVANNAH QUARTERS)
PROPOSED ZONING: PUD (SAVANNAH QUARTERS)

     IMPERVIOUS AREA = 8.35 ACRES (34.8%)
PERVIOUS AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)

     GREEN AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)
OPEN AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)

TOTAL DISTURBED AREA: 19.03 ACRES

BUILDING SETBACK:
FRONT: 35 FT

PROPOSED LAND USES & DENSITIES:
MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL 288 UNITS

PARKING SUMMARY:
REQUIRED PARKING:

MULTIFAMILY (288 UNITS) 504 SPACES (1.75/UNIT)

PROPOSED PARKING: 504 SPACES (TOTAL)
MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL 504 SPACES (1.75/UNIT)

STANDARD 426 SPACES
GARAGE 63 SPACES
HANDICAP 15 SPACES

HEAVY DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT

PROPERTY LINE

STANDARD DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT

STANDARD DUTY CONCRETE SIDEWALK

SITE PLAN LEGEND:

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT

TRAIL

PARKING COUNT10

GRAVEL

Page 59 of 122



(7
)  

G
AR

AG
ES

(7
)  

G
AR

AG
ES

(7
)  

G
AR

AG
ES

(7
)  

G
AR

AG
ES

2,500 SF
POOL

AMENITY
AREA

POOLER PARKWAY (R/W VARIES)

PLAYGROUND
DOG
PARK

DOG MAINTENANCE
BIKE

CAR

(7)  GARAGES
(7)  GARAGES

TRASH

COMPACTOR

ENCLOSURE

NOW OR FORMERLY
TRACT 5

THE SOUTHWEST QUADRANT
OF SAVANNAH QUARTERS

PRB 20P, PG 41-G
N/F WESTBROOK AT SAVANNAH

 QUARTERS COMMUNITY
PIN: 51009 01071

35' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

35' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

S 37° 58' 26" E 174.81'

S 37° 58' 26" E 497.86'

GATE

MAINTENANCE BUILDING

DUMPSTER PAD

26
.0

0'

164.50'

50.00'

20
.0

0'

86.67'

86.67'

22
.0

0'
80

.8
3'

239.34'

25
3.

08
'

270.08'

47.79'

123.04'

70
.6

7'

99.58'

98
.2

8'

15.00'

33
.7

1'

30
.0

0'

9.00'

18
.0

0'

26
.0

8'

26.00'

26.00'

18
.0

0'

86
.6

7'

86
.6

7'

22.00'

22.00'

81.00'

26.00'

18.00'

9.
00

'

86
.6

7'

86
.6

7'

22.00'
22.00'26

.0
0'

9.00'

18
.0

0'

12
6.

00
'

81
.1

7'

26
.0

0'

72.00'

7

6

10

12

11

7

8

6

4
4

4

6
6

6

9
8

7

10

7

8

6

11

6

3

11

4

2

CAR WASH AREA

123.04'

5.
0'

5.0'

6.0'

5.0'

63.00'

5.
00

'

9.00'

9

1
4-STORY

(144) UNITS

4
4-STORY
(40) UNITS

2
4-STORY
(48) UNITS

6

10

12

7

12

7
8

166.38'

ENTRANCE SIGN

UTILITY EASEMENT

 D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 K
:\S

AV
_C

iv
il\

01
49

77
00

0_
Bl

ak
el

y_
C

om
m

on
s_

Lo
ga

n_
H

om
es

\C
AD

\P
la

ns
he

et
s\

C
2-

00
 - 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g 

  C
2-

01
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

   
Ap

r 2
4,

 2
02

3 
 8

:5
7a

m
   

by
: d

aw
so

n.
va

ug
hn

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R
PR

O
JE

C
T

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

014977000

N
o.

IS
SU

AN
C

E 
AN

D
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

S
D

AT
E

BY

REVIEWED BY JW

DESIGNED BY DV

DRAWN BY CJ

GSWCC NO.
(LEVEL II) 0000073900

TITLE

BL
AK

EL
EY

 C
O

M
M

O
N

S
PO

O
LE

R
 P

KW
Y,

 P
O

O
LE

R
, G

A 
31

32
2

PA
R

C
EL

 ID
: 5

10
09

 0
10

41

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y

04/24/2023

LO
G

AN
 H

O
M

ES
 S

C
59

1 
BR

O
W

N
S 

C
O

VE
 R

D
.

R
ID

G
EL

AN
D

, S
C

 2
99

36
PH

O
N

E:
 (9

10
) 7

42
-6

47
2

©
 2

02
2 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.
55

4 
E 

G
O

R
D

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

SA
VA

N
N

AH
, G

EO
R

G
IA

 3
14

01
PH

O
N

E 
(9

12
) 2

31
-4

38
4

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C2-01

SITE PLAN

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

15 30 60

NORTH

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-00

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-01

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-00

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-01

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-01

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-02

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-01

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-02

SITE NOTES:
1. THE PROPOSED BUILDING INFORMATION SHOWN HEREON IS

FROM AN ELECTRONIC FILE PROVIDED BY PLANWORX
ARCHITECTURE, DATED 02/03/2023 AND IS FOR ILLUSTRATIVE
PURPOSES ONLY. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFERENCE
ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR EXACT BUILDING INFORMATION.

2. EXISTING CONDITIONS SHOWN HEREON ARE FROM A SURVEY
FILE PROVIDED BY SHUPE SURVEYING COMPANY, P.C., DATED
09/28/2022.

3. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM EDGE OF PAVEMENT TO EDGE OF
PAVEMENT UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. SIDEWALK INSTALLED AGAINST BACK OF CURB SHALL BE
INSTALLED PER THE PLAN AS MEASURED FROM THE BACK OF
CURB.

5. ALL SIGNAGE AND STRIPING MUST MEET THE LATEST
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH BY MUTCD, GDOT, AND GEORGIA
STATE CODE.

6. REFERENCE LANDSCAPE PLANS FOR ALL HARDSCAPE AND
LANDSCAPE DETAILS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY:
SITE SUMMARY:

CURRENT ZONING: PUD (SAVANNAH QUARTERS)
PROPOSED ZONING: PUD (SAVANNAH QUARTERS)

     IMPERVIOUS AREA = 8.35 ACRES (34.8%)
PERVIOUS AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)

     GREEN AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)
OPEN AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)

TOTAL DISTURBED AREA: 19.03 ACRES

BUILDING SETBACK:
FRONT: 35 FT

PROPOSED LAND USES & DENSITIES:
MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL 288 UNITS

PARKING SUMMARY:
REQUIRED PARKING:

MULTIFAMILY (288 UNITS) 504 SPACES (1.75/UNIT)

PROPOSED PARKING: 504 SPACES (TOTAL)
MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL 504 SPACES (1.75/UNIT)

STANDARD 426 SPACES
GARAGE 63 SPACES
HANDICAP 15 SPACES

HEAVY DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT

PROPERTY LINE

STANDARD DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT

STANDARD DUTY CONCRETE SIDEWALK

SITE PLAN LEGEND:

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT

TRAIL

UTILITY EASEMENT

GRAVEL

10 PARKING COUNT

Page 60 of 122



(7
)  

G
AR

AG
ES

(7
)  

G
AR

AG
ES

POND

TRASH

COMPACTOR

ENCLOSURE
NOW OR FORMERLY

TRACT 6B
THE SOUTHWEST QUADRANT

OF SAVANNAH QUARTERS
PRB 28P, PG 86

N/F WESTBROOK AT SAVANNAH
 QUARTERS COMMUNITY

PIN: 51009 01071

35' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

S 
81

° 1
4' 

28
" W

74
7.

55
'

C4

S 37° 58' 26" E 174.81'

DUMPSTER PAD

GATE

22.00'

12
6.

00
'

81
.1

7'

108.10'

26
.0

0'

72.00'

72.00'

18
.0

0'

9.00'

7

7

10

7

8 5.0'

4
4-STORY
(40) UNITS

15.00'
13.00'

13.32'

26.00'

6

10

12

166.38'

 D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 K
:\S

AV
_C

iv
il\

01
49

77
00

0_
Bl

ak
el

y_
C

om
m

on
s_

Lo
ga

n_
H

om
es

\C
AD

\P
la

ns
he

et
s\

C
2-

00
 - 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g 

  C
2-

02
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

   
Ap

r 2
4,

 2
02

3 
 8

:5
7a

m
   

by
: d

aw
so

n.
va

ug
hn

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R
PR

O
JE

C
T

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

014977000

N
o.

IS
SU

AN
C

E 
AN

D
 R

EV
IS

IO
N

 D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

S
D

AT
E

BY

REVIEWED BY JW

DESIGNED BY DV

DRAWN BY CJ

GSWCC NO.
(LEVEL II) 0000073900

TITLE

BL
AK

EL
EY

 C
O

M
M

O
N

S
PO

O
LE

R
 P

KW
Y,

 P
O

O
LE

R
, G

A 
31

32
2

PA
R

C
EL

 ID
: 5

10
09

 0
10

41

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y

04/24/2023

LO
G

AN
 H

O
M

ES
 S

C
59

1 
BR

O
W

N
S 

C
O

VE
 R

D
.

R
ID

G
EL

AN
D

, S
C

 2
99

36
PH

O
N

E:
 (9

10
) 7

42
-6

47
2

©
 2

02
2 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.
55

4 
E 

G
O

R
D

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

SA
VA

N
N

AH
, G

EO
R

G
IA

 3
14

01
PH

O
N

E 
(9

12
) 2

31
-4

38
4

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C2-02

SITE PLAN

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

15 30 60

NORTH

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-01

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-02

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-01

M
ATC

H
LIN

E C
2-02

SITE NOTES:
1. THE PROPOSED BUILDING INFORMATION SHOWN HEREON IS

FROM AN ELECTRONIC FILE PROVIDED BY PLANWORX
ARCHITECTURE, DATED 02/03/2023 AND IS FOR ILLUSTRATIVE
PURPOSES ONLY. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFERENCE
ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR EXACT BUILDING INFORMATION.

2. EXISTING CONDITIONS SHOWN HEREON ARE FROM A SURVEY
FILE PROVIDED BY SHUPE SURVEYING COMPANY, P.C., DATED
09/28/2022.

3. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM EDGE OF PAVEMENT TO EDGE OF
PAVEMENT UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. SIDEWALK INSTALLED AGAINST BACK OF CURB SHALL BE
INSTALLED PER THE PLAN AS MEASURED FROM THE BACK OF
CURB.

5. ALL SIGNAGE AND STRIPING MUST MEET THE LATEST
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH BY MUTCD, GDOT, AND GEORGIA
STATE CODE.

6. REFERENCE LANDSCAPE PLANS FOR ALL HARDSCAPE AND
LANDSCAPE DETAILS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY:
SITE SUMMARY:

CURRENT ZONING: PUD (SAVANNAH QUARTERS)
PROPOSED ZONING: PUD (SAVANNAH QUARTERS)

     IMPERVIOUS AREA = 8.35 ACRES (34.8%)
PERVIOUS AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)

     GREEN AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)
OPEN AREA = 15.65 ACRES (65.2%)

TOTAL DISTURBED AREA: 19.03 ACRES

BUILDING SETBACK:
FRONT: 35 FT

PROPOSED LAND USES & DENSITIES:
MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL 288 UNITS

PARKING SUMMARY:
REQUIRED PARKING:

MULTIFAMILY (288 UNITS) 504 SPACES (1.75/UNIT)

PROPOSED PARKING: 504 SPACES (TOTAL)
MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL 504 SPACES (1.75/UNIT)

STANDARD 426 SPACES
GARAGE 63 SPACES
HANDICAP 15 SPACES

HEAVY DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT

PROPERTY LINE

STANDARD DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT

STANDARD DUTY CONCRETE SIDEWALK

SITE PLAN LEGEND:

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT

TRAIL

PARKING COUNT10

GRAVEL

Page 61 of 122



Page 62 of 122



Page 63 of 122



Page 64 of 122



Page 65 of 122



Page 66 of 122



Page 67 of 122



Page 68 of 122



Page 69 of 122



Page 70 of 122



Page 71 of 122



Page 72 of 122



Page 73 of 122



Page 74 of 122



Page 75 of 122



Page 76 of 122



Page 77 of 122



Page 78 of 122



Page 79 of 122



Page 80 of 122



Page 81 of 122



Page 82 of 122



Page 83 of 122



Page 84 of 122



Page 85 of 122



Page 86 of 122



Page 87 of 122



Page 88 of 122



Page 89 of 122



Page 90 of 122



Page 91 of 122



Page 92 of 122



Page 93 of 122



Page 94 of 122



Page 95 of 122



Page 96 of 122



Page 97 of 122



Page 98 of 122



Page 99 of 122



Page 100 of 122



Page 101 of 122



Page 102 of 122



Page 103 of 122



Page 104 of 122



Page 105 of 122



Page 106 of 122



Page 107 of 122



Page 108 of 122



Page 109 of 122



Page 110 of 122



Page 111 of 122



Page 112 of 122



 
 

2601 Maitland Center Parkway  
 Maitland, Florida 32751 

O: (407) 792-0018 | F: (407) 878-7858  
www.thompsoncs.net 

A THOMPSON HOLDINGS, INC. COMPANY 

 

May 4, 2023 

 

Mrs. Rachael Brown 

Public Works Coordinator 

1095 S. Rogers St. 

Pooler, Georgia 31322 

  

Sent via Email: RBrown@pooler-ga.gov 

 

Subject:  Renewal of Annual Contract for Debris Monitoring Services and Consumer Price 

Index Escalation 

 

 

Dear Mrs. Brown: 

 

Thompson Consulting Services (Thompson) has been providing the City of Pooler (City) with 

Disaster Debris Monitoring Services since the execution of the Contract, which was effective 

October 27, 2016. Although our contract expired on October 26, 2021, Thompson understands 

that the City would like to extend our agreement through October 26, 2023 to ensure 

uninterrupted service through the 2023 hurricane season. Thompson agrees with this extension 

and recommends that the current contract be amended to allow for the extended contract term.  

 

In addition, pursuant to Section 6 Fee for Services, the amount as specified in Exhibit “B” may 

be updated annually prior to each optional renewal period upon mutual written agreement by 

each party. Thompson respectfully requests the City consider an addendum to the Contract to 

increase Exhibit “B” based on a CPI escalation as reflected in Attachment I. 

 

We hope the City understands the need for Thompson to request the CPI escalation. We believe 

Thompson offers the best value available for similar services and value the City as our client. If 

you have any questions or if we can be of any further assistance, please contact Nicole Lehman, 

Director of Client Services at (407) 756-7589 or by email nlehman@thompsoncs.net. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 
Jon Hoyle 

President 

 

Page 113 of 122



 

Series: CPI-U, U.S. City Average, All Items, 1982-84 

 

 

 October 2016 March 2023 

CPI for Current Period 241.729 301.836 

Less CPI for Previous Period  241.729 

 Equals Index Point Change  60.107 

Divided by Previous Period CPI  241.729 

 Equals  0.2487 

Result Multiplied by 100  100 

 Equals Percent Change  24.87 

 

 

Position October 2016 March 2023 

Operations Manager 65.00 81.17 

Field Supervisor 49.00 61.19 

Debris Monitor (Collection, Disposal) 34.00 42.46 

Data Manager 50.00 62.44 

Project Coordinator 26.00 32.47 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114 of 122



Professional Services Agreement
General Terms and Conditions

This Professional Services Agreement ("Agreement") is dated 
(yC't'Dld'Cy' 2016 by and between Thompson

Consulting Services, LLC ("Consultant"), with offices at 1135 
Townpark Avenue, Suite 2101, Lake Mary, FL 32746 and the City of 
Pooler, Georgia ("Client”). In consideration of the mutual covenants 
to be performed by the parties pursuant to this Agreement, each party 
hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows:

1. TERM & APPLICABILITY
The term of this Agreement shall be for three (3) years from the date 
of full execution hereof and shall automatically renew for two (2) 
successive one (1) year periods at the end of each prior term unless 
one party notifies the other party in writing prior to the expiration of 
the then current term of its intent not to renew the Agreement. This 
Agreement shall apply to all work performed at the request of the 
Client or for the benefit of the Client during the term hereof (the 
“Work”) unless both parties agree in writing that the terms and 
conditions hereof shall not apply.

2. SCOPE OF WORK
Consultant shall perform such Work as the Client may direct from 
time to time during the term hereof and in accordance with Exhibit A 
attached hereto. Consultant and Client will agree to specific services 
to be provided via the issuance of a written task order executed by 
both parties.

3. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR
Consultant is an independent contractor and is not an employee of 
Client. Services performed by Consultant under this Agreement are 
solely for the benefit of Client. Nothing contained in this Agreement 
creates any duties on the part of Consultant toward any person not a 
party to this Agreement.

4. STANDARD OF CARE
Consultant will perform services under this Agreement with the 
degree of skill and diligence normally practiced by professional 
consultants performing the same or similar services. No other 
warranty or guarantee, expressed or implied, is made with respect to 
the services furnished under this Agreement and all implied 
warranties are disclaimed.

5. CHANGES/AMENDMENTS
This Agreement and its exhibits constitute the entire agreement 
between the Parties and together with its exhibits supersede any prior 
written or oral agreements. This Agreement may not be changed 
except by written amendment signed by both Parties. The estimate of 
the level of effort, schedule, and payment required to complete any 
services directed by the Client will be dictated through a written task 
order executed by both parties. Consultant shall promptly notify 
Client if changes to the Scope of Services or any resulting task orders 
affect the schedule, level of effort, or payment to Consultant and the 
schedule and payment shall be equitably adjusted.

6. FEE FOR SERVICES
The fee for the services under this Agreement will be based on the 
actual hours of services furnished multiplied by Consultant's Billing 
Rates as set forth in Exhibit B, plus all reasonable expenses directly 

related to the services furnished under this Agreement. Consultant’s 
rates are subject to annual Consumer Price Index (CPI) escalations on 
the annual anniversary of the execution date of the Agreement upon 
mutual written agreement by each party.

7. PAYMENT

Client shall pay Consultant for services furnished under this 
Agreement upon submission of monthly invoices in an amount equal 
to actual hours of services furnished multiplied by the billing rates 
attached as Exhibit B. Client shall pay Consultant within thirty (30) 
days of receipt of invoices less any disputed amounts. If Client 
disputes any portion of the invoice, the undisputed portion will be 
paid and Consultant will be notified in writing, within ten (10) days 
of receipt of the invoice of the exceptions taken. Consultant and 
Client will attempt to resolve the payment dispute within sixty (60) 
days or the matter may be submitted to arbitration as provided herein. 
Additional charges for interest shall become due and payable at a rate 
of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month (or the maximum 
percentage allowed by law) on the unpaid, undisputed invoiced 
amounts. Any interest charges due from Client on past due invoices 
are outside any amounts otherwise due under this Agreement. If 
Client fails to pay undisputed invoiced amounts within sixty (60) 
days after delivery of invoice. Consultant, at its sole discretion, may 
suspend services hereunder or may initiate collections proceedings, 
without incurring any liability or waiving any right established 
hereunder or by law.

8. INDEMNITY
To the extent permitted by law. Consultant agrees to indemnify, 
defend and hold harmless Client from and against any and all loss, 
damage, claim or liability (including, without limitation reasonable 
attorney’s fees) incurred by or imposed on the Client, to the extent 
caused by the negligent acts or actions performed by the Consultant 
during the performance of the Scope of Services under this 
Agreement; provided, however, that Consultant shall not, and shall 
not be obligated to, indemnify, defend or hold harmless Client from 
or against any toss to the extent the loss arises from the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of the Client. Upon notice from 
Client of any action or proceeding subject to the indemnification in 
this section, Consultant agrees to defend the Client in the action or 
proceeding.

To the extent permitted by law, Client agrees to indemnify, defend 
and hold harmless Consultant and its directors, officers, shareholders, 
employees and sub-consultants (each an 'Indemnified Party') from 
and against any and all loss, damage, claim or liability (including, 
without limitation reasonable attorney's fees) incurred by or imposed 
on the Indemnified Party by reason of or in connection with negligent 
acts or actions of the Client or its breach of its obligations under this 
Agreement; provided, however, that Client shall not, and shall not be 
obligated to, indemnify, defend or hold harmless any Indemnified 
Party from or against any loss to the extent the loss arises from the 
gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnified Party . 
Upon notice from any Indemnified Party of any action or proceeding 
subject to the indemnification in this section, Client agrees to defend 
the Indemnified Party in the action or proceeding.

9. INSURANCE

Page 1 of4 Modified: October 26, 2016
Page 115 of 122



Professional Services Agreement
General Terms and Conditions

Consultant shall maintain insurance with the following required 
coverage and minimum limits and upon request, will provide 
insurance certificates to Client:

Worker's Compensation: Statutory

Employer's Liability: 51,000,000

Commercial General Liability: 51,000,000 per occurrence 
51,000,000 aggregate

Comprehensive General Automobile: 51,000,000 combined
single limit

Professional Liability: 51,000,000 per claim and 
in the aggregate

10. WORK PRODUCT
Client shall have the unrestricted right to use the documents, analyses 
and other data prepared by Consultant under this Agreement ('Work 
Products'); provided, however Client shall not rely on or use the 
Work Products for any purpose other than the purposes under this 
Agreement and the Work Products shall not be changed without the 
prior written approval of Consultant If Client releases the Work 
Products to a third party without Consultants prior written consent, 
or changes or uses the Work Products other than as intended 
hereunder, (a) Client does so at its sole risk and discretion, (b) 
Consultant shall not be liable for any claims or damages resulting 
from the change or use or connected with the release or any third 
party's use of the Work Products and (c) Client shall indemnify, 
defend and hold Consultant harmless from any and all claims or 
damages related to the release, change or reuse.

11. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
No employee of Consultant shall have individual liability to Client. 
To the extent permitted by law, the total liability of Consultant, its 
officers, directors, shareholders, employees and sub-consultants for 
any and all claims arising out of this Agreement, including attorneys' 
fees, and whether caused by negligence, errors, omissions, strict 
liability, breach of contract, contribution or indemnity claims based 
on third party claims or any other case, shall not exceed the revenue 
received by Consultant under this Agreement or one hundred fifty 
thousand dollars (U.S. $150,000.00), whichever is greater.

12. NO CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
In no event and under no circumstances shall Consultant be liable to 
Client for any principal, interest, loss of anticipated revenues, 
earnings, profits, increased expense of operation or construction, loss 
by reason of shutdown or non-operation due to late completion or 
otherwise or for any other economic, consequential, indirect or 
special damages.

13. INFORMATION PROVIDED BY OTHERS
Client shall provide to Consultant in a timely manner any information 
Consultant indicates is needed to perform the services 
hereunder. Consultant may rely on the accuracy of information 
provided by Client and its representatives.

14. SAFETY AND SECURITY

Consultant has established and maintains programs and procedures 
for the safety of its employees. Unless specifically included as a 
service to be provided under this Agreement, Consultant specifically 
disclaims any authority or responsibility for job site safety and safety 
of persons other than Consultant's employees. Consultant shall not 
provide any such services and disclaims any responsibility under this 
Agreement related to site security or the assessment, evaluation, 
review, testing, maintenance, operation or safety practices or 
procedures related to security.

15. TERMINATION
Either party may terminate this Agreement upon fifteen (15) days 
prior written notice to the other party. Client shall pay Consultant for 
all services rendered to the date of termination plus reasonable 
expenses for winding down the services. If either party defaults in its 
obligations hereunder, the non-defaulting party, after giving seven (7) 
days written notice of its intention to terminate or suspend 
performance under this Agreement, may, if cure of the default is not 
commenced and diligently continued, terminate this Agreement or 
suspend performance under this Agreement. Upon termination, the 
terms and conditions found in this Agreement concerning ongoing or 
future obligations and contractual responsibilities and interpretation 
thereof shall survive its termination, including but not limited to 
those obligations found in sections 4, 7, 8,10, 11,12,13, 16 & 17.

16. GOVERNING LAW AND CHOICE OF FORUM
This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Georgia 
and any suit brought by either party shall be brought in a court of 
competent jurisdiction in Chatham County, Georgia.

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION
Consultant and Client shall attempt to resolve conflicts or disputes 
under this Agreement in a fair and reasonable manner and agree that 
if resolution cannot be made to attempt to mediate the conflict by a 
professional mediator (except for payment disputes which may be 
submitted directly to arbitration). If mediation does not settle any 
dispute or action which arises under this Agreement or which relates 
in any way to this Agreement or the subject matter of this Agreement 
within ninety (90) days after either requests mediation, the matter 
will be litigated as provided in the above paragraph 16.

18. COOPERATIVE PURCHASING
It is the intent of Client to allow other governments and other 
governmental agencies to utilize this contract by entering into a 
Cooperative Purchasing Agreement to the extent permissible by local 
and state law. The Cooperative Purchasing Agreement will stipulate 
that any modifications or changes to this document and resulting 
contract(s) including but not limited to Consultant requirements, 
scope, or price shall be submitted to Client in writing for acceptance 
and approval as the originator of the contract.

19. ASSIGNMENT
This Agreement is binding upon and will inure to the benefit of 
Client and Consultant and their respective successors and assigns. 
Neither party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder without 
the prior written consent of the other party.

20. NOTICES

Page 2 of 4 Modified: October 26, 2016
Page 116 of 122



Professional Services Agreement
General Terms and Conditions

Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement to be given shall 
be deemed to have been duly given if in writing and delivered 
personally or five (5) days after mailing by first-class, registered, or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid and addressed 
as follows:

Client: pQ Op/gy

Attention:

Address: (K)0 JU fD

Consultant: Thompson Consulting Services, LLC

Attention: Jon Hoyle, President

Address: i 135 Townpark Avenue

Suite 2101

Lake Mary, FL 32746

With a copy to:

Attention: Chad Brown, Chief Legal Officer

Address: 2970 Cottage Hill Road

Suite 190

Mobile, AL 36606

21. MISCELLANEOUS
A. Client expressly agrees that all provisions of the Agreement, 
including the clause limiting the liability of Consultant, were 
mutually negotiated and that but for the inclusion of the limitation of 
liability clause in the Agreement, Consultant's compensation for 
services would otherwise be greater and/or Consultant would not 
have entered into the Agreement.

B. If any provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder of this Agreement shall continue in lull force and effect 
and the provision declared invalid or unenforceable shall continue as 
to other circumstances.

C. Consultant shall maintain adequate records to justify all charges, 
expenses, and costs incurred in estimating and performing the work 
for at least three (3) years after completion of the contract. The Client 
shall have access to all records, documents and information collected 
and/or maintained by others in the course of the administration of the 
Agreement. This information shall be made accessible at the Client’s 
place of business for purposes of inspection, reproduction and audit 
without restriction.

D. Notwithstanding any statute to the contrary, the Parties agree that 
any action to enforce or interpret this Agreement shall be initiated 
within two (2) years from the time the party knew or should have 
known of the fact giving rise to its action, and shall not in any case be 
initiated later than six (6) years after Consultant completes its Scope 
of Services under this Agreement.

E. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed to be an original instrument, but all of which 
taken together shall constitute one instrument.

(REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

Page 3 of 4 Modified: October 26, 20J6
Page 117 of 122



r I'Om p s

Professional Services Agreement
General Terms and Conditions

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized officers or representatives.

City of Pooler, Georgia

By;

As its: 

Date:

By:

As its:

Date:

4^
7)

Please return executed copy of these terms and conditions to the attention of: 
Kyle Hoyle

(407) 792-0018 -Phone

Page 4 of 4 Modified: October 26, 2016
Page 118 of 122



Scope of Services for Debris Monitoring Services

General
Provide debris monitors and debris monitoring services to assist City of Pooler with monitoring the 
operations of the disaster debris removal and disposal contractor(s). The debris monitoring services to be 
provided are contract compliance, and supervision and inspection. All debris monitoring activities are to be 
in compliance with current FEMA guidance and local, State, and Federal regulations. Debris sites will 
operate approximately 12 to 14 hours per day, 7 days per week.

Requirements
Contractor will assist with load inspections for storm debris cleanup being performed by one or more debris 
hauling and disposal contractors for the City.

Contractor shall supply sufficient number of trained debris monitors and trained field supervisors to 
accommodate the volume of debris to be removed at loading sites and debris management sites or final 
disposal sites.

Contractor shall remove and replace employees immediately upon notice from the City for conduct or 
actions not in keeping with the contract.

Personnel Requirement and Responsibilities
Debris Monitoring Field Supervisor
Consultant will provide one debris monitoring field supervisor for debris loading site monitors. Services 
include, but are not limited to:

• Overseeing and supervising loading site and disposal site debris monitoring activities
• Scheduling debris monitoring resources and deployment timing
• Communicating and coordinating with City Personnel
• Providing suggestions to improve the efficiency of collection and removal of debris
• Coordinating daily activities and future planning
• Remaining in contact with debris management/dispatch center or supervisor
• Identifying, addressing, and troubleshooting any questions or problems that could affect work 

area safety and eligibility
• Supervising the accurate measurement of load hauling compartments and accurately computing 

volume capacity in cubic yards (CY)
• Documenting and recording measurements and computations
• Documenting truck hauling compartment condition using digital photographs
• Preparing a master log book of all hauling equipment used by the City's debris removal 

contractor
• Compiling, reconciling and documenting daily, in an electronic spreadsheet format, all eligible 

debris hauled by the debris removal contractor(s)

Debris Monitors
Consultant will provide trained debris monitoring personnel to oversee the loading of eligible debris at 
collections sites and verification of load capacity and documentation at designated temporary debris 
management or final disposal sites. Services include, but are not limited to:

Page 119 of 122



Consultant will perform on-site, street level debris monitoring at all contractor loading sites to verify debris 
eligibility based on the monitoring contract's requirements and initiate debris removal documentation 
using load tickets. Services include, but are not limited to:

• Providing trained debris monitoring personnel at designated loading sites to check and verify 
information on debris removal operations

• Monitoring collection activity of trucks
• Issuing load tickets at loading site for each load
• Checking the area for safety considerations such as downed power lines and children playing in 

the area, and ensuring that traffic control needs are met and trucks and equipment are 
operated safely

• Ensuring that Freon-containing appliances are sorted and ready for Freon removal on-site or 
separating transport for Freon removal before final disposal

• Performing a pre-work inspection of areas to identify potential problems such as covered utility 
meters, transformers, fire hydrants, mail boxes, etc. to mitigate damage from loading 
equipment

• Documenting damage to utility components, driveways, road surfaces, private property, 
vehicles, etc., should it occur, with photographs (if possible, collect information about owner, 
circumstances of the damage [who, what, when, where] and report to field supervisor)

• Ensuring the work area is dear of debris to the specified level before equipment is moved to a 
new loading area

• Properly monitoring and recording performance and productivity of debris removal crew
• Remaining in regular contact with debris management/dispatch center or supervisor
• Ensuring that loads are contained properly before leaving the loading area
• Ensuring that only eligible debris is collected for loading and hauling
• Ensuring that only debris from approved public areas is loaded for removal
• Performing other duties from time to time as directed by the debris management project 

manager or designated debris management personnel

Debris Tower/Site Monitors
Consultant will provide debris tower and site monitors to verify estimated quantities of eligible debris 
hauled by contractor trucks and documented on load tickets. Services include, but are not limited to:

• Providing trained debris monitoring personnel to accurately measure load hauling 
compartments and accurately compute volume capacity in CY for all contractor trucks and 
trailers prior to commencement of debris hauling operations

• Documenting measurements and computations
• Completing record contract haulers' cubic yardage and other recordkeeping as needed on the 

load ticket
• Initialing each load ticket before permitting trucks to proceed from the check-in area to the 

tipping area
• Remaining in regular contact with debris management/dispatch center or field supervisor
• Performing other duties as directed by the dispatch/staging operation, debris management 

project manager, or other designated personnel

Page 120 of 122



Clerical Staff/Data Entry Staff
Consultant will provide clerical staff/data entry staff as required to implement and maintain a disaster 
debris management system linking the load ticket and debris management site information, including 
reconciliation and photographic documentation processes, to enter load ticket information into the 
contractor's information management systems and to supervise the preparation of detailed estimates for 
submission to the City and to provide periodic reports to the City, noting work progress and efficiency, 
current/revised estimated, project completion, and other schedule forecasts/updates.

Terms
The work shall begin on notice to proceed and continue for no longer than 60 days, unless extended by City 
of Pooler with 10 days written notice.

Deployment
Consultant must be prepared to deploy debris monitors within 24 hours from the notice to proceed. When 
additional debris monitoring is needed to meet requirements of the monitoring contract, consultant shall 
be prepared to increase the number of debris monitors for the City to use as needed.

Page 121 of 122



EXHIBIT B

Per Diem for management and supervisory personnel residing greater than 50 miles from the City will be 
billed at the GSA published rate. All other non-labor project expenses will be billed at cost, without mark
up.

Positions Hourly Rates
Operations Manager
Field Supervisors
Debris Monitors (Collection, Disposal)
Data Manager
Project Coordinators

$ 65.00 
$ 49.00 
$ 34.00 
$ 50.00
$ 26.00

Page 122 of 122


	I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. CALL TO ORDER
	III. INVOCATION
	IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
	VI. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. City Council Meeting Minutes of May 15, 2023
	6A_City Council Meeting Minutes of May 15, 2023

	B. Special Event Permit Application for Trisha Cook &
	6B_Special Event Permit Application for Trisha Cook & Kelly Senn for July 30, 2023


	VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
	A. Ordinance O2023-05.A - To Amend Appendix A - Zonin
	7A_Ordinance O2023-05.A - To Amend Appendix A - Zoning, Article IV - Zoning Districts, Section 18 - C-1, Light

	B. Ordinance O2023-05.B - Amendment to The City of Po
	7B_Ordinance O2023-05.B - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article III 

	C. Ordinance O2023-05.C - Amendment to The City of Po
	7C_Ordinance O2023-05.C - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article II -

	D. Ordinance O2023-05.D - Amendment to The City of Po
	7D_ Ordinance O2023-05.D - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of Ordinances Chapter 82-

	E. Ordinance O2023-05.E - Amendment to The City of Po
	7E_ Ordinance O2023-05.E - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article V

	F. Proclamation for Juneteenth 2023
	7F_Proclamation for Juneteenth 2023

	G. Resolution 2023-06.A - Budget Amendment 2023-01
	7G_Resolution 2023-06.A - Budget Amendment 2023-01


	VIII. OLD BUSINESS
	A. Zoning Map Amendment for 1703 Old Dean Forest Road
	8A_Zoning Map Amendment for 1703 Old Dean Forest Road from MH-3 to I-1 (PIN 5-0988-04-006)


	IX. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Building Height Variance for Stonecutter Pooler Mu
	9A_Building Height Variance for Stonecutter Pooler Multifamily Owner, LLC (Public Hearing, Action

	B. Release of Performance Bond/Acceptance of Maintena
	9B_Release of Performance BondAcceptance of Maintenance Bond for Harmony Townhomes

	C. Acceptance of Subdivision Performance Bond/Final P
	9C_Acceptance of a Subdivision Performance BondFinal Plat for Harmony, Phase 7

	D. Acceptance of Subdivision Performance Bond/Final P
	9D_Acceptance of a Subdivision Performance BondFinal Plat for Forest Lakes, Phase 10

	E. Renewal of Annual Contract for Debris Monitoring S
	9E_Renewal of Annual Contract for Debris Monitoring Services and Consumer Price Index Escalation


	X. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	XI. ADJOURNMENT



